94171.8

Court of Appeals No. 74115-2-1

COURT OF APPEALS

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

Viewcrest Condominium Association,

Plaintiff/Respondent

v.

Brenda L. Robertson,

Defendant/Appellant.

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

The Honorable Veronica A. Galvan

David M. Tall WSBA #12849 Oseran Hahn, P.S. 10900 NE Fourth Street, Suite 1430 Bellevue, WA 98004 425-455-3900 Telephone 425-455-9201 Fax dtall@ohswlaw.com

I. INTRODUCTION

1. Identity of the Petitioner

Petitioner Viewcrest Condominium Association through its attorneys of record, Oseran Hahn, P.S., David M. Tall of counsel, seeks Discretionary Review of the Court of Appeals decision in the Viewcrest Condominium Association v. Brenda L. Robertson, Court of Appeals No. 74115-2-1, in which the Court of Appeals, Division I, reversed the Superior Court's Order granting a Writ of Assistance to remove Ms. Robertson from the condominium unit after its entry of an Order confirming Petitioner's Sheriff's Sale.

2. Citation to Court of Appeals Decision.

Petitioner Viewcrest Condominium Association requests a Discretionary Review of the Court of Appeals Decision of December 27, 2016.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Whether the Court of Appeals, Division 1 erred in reversing the Superior Court's decision to grant Petitioner a Writ of Assistance to remove Ms. Robertson from the condominium unit?
- B. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in holding that the language of

- RCW 64.34.364(2) was ambiguous, notwithstanding that such section clearly states the provisions of Chapter 6.13 (the Homestead Statute), do not apply to the association's lien?
- C. Whether the Legislature's decision to broaden the rights of the Association formerly incorporated within RCW 64.32.200(2) within the new RCW 64.34.364(2), supports the clear intent of the Legislature to eliminate an owner's right to claim a homestead as against the Association's lien.
- D. Whether RCW 6.23.110(4) stands alone, separate and apart from the Homestead Act (RCW 6.13 et seq), and allows an owner to remain in possession after the judicial foreclosure of the Association's lien during the redemption period, without payment of rent to the purchaser.

III. STATEMENT OF CASE

On August 29, 2012, Respondent Viewcrest Condominium Association ("Viewcrest") took a judgment against Appellant Brenda Robertson for past due condominium association assessments. *CP 61-65*. The delinquency began in October, 2008, and resulted in a judgment amount of \$10,878.58. *CP 61*. Ms. Robertson failed to pay any post-judgment assessments which had accrued to the date of the sheriff's sale in the amount of \$7,112.49 and failed to make any payment arrangements with Viewcrest.

CP 57. At all times material hereto the amount of the monthly assessment for Ms. Robertson's unit was \$185. CP 57. Viewcrest did not proceed with a sheriff's sale until June 12, 2015, as a result of Ms. Robertson's utilization of bankruptcy laws and her filing of multiple bankruptcies. CP 10 and CP 57. Viewcrest was the successful purchaser at the sheriff's sale. CP 10.

Viewcrest offered to allow Ms. Robertson to remain in her unit during the redemption period in exchange for fair market rent, which after application to post sheriff sale costs and assessments would function as a credit toward her redemption of the property. *CP 57*. However, she failed to respond to Viewcrest's offer. Until vacating, Ms. Robertson had essentially resided in her unit without paying her mortgage or condominium assessments since October 2008. *CP 57*.

Viewcrest filed a motion requesting the Court issue a Writ of Assistance to remove her from the unit after receiving no response about renting. *CP 147-153*. The basis of Viewcrest's motion was that a homestead does not exist as against the Association's lien as RCW 64.34.364(2), provides that the chapter 6.13 RCW (the statute which <u>creates</u> the homestead) <u>in its entirety</u> does not apply. *CP 177-181*. Commissioner Velategui agreed with Viewcrest's interpretation of RCW 64.34.364(2) and

granted its motion, but stayed the issuance of the Writ in anticipation of Ms. Robertson's Motion for Revision. *CP 86*.

Ms. Robertson filed a Motion for Revision. *CP 187-198*. Judge Veronica Galvan denied the Motion after lengthy oral argument finding the reasoning of Judge Prochnau in the case of *Redwood High Point v*. *Blumenthal* persuasive. *RP 32*, *CP 76-78*, *and CP 88-90*. Recognizing that Ms. Robertson may choose to appeal the decision, the Court granted Viewcrest's request for the posting of a supersedeas bond as a condition of staying the enforcement of the Court's order granting Viewcrest its Writ of Assistance. RP 34-37 and CP 90.

The Court of Appeals reviewed the matter and ruled on December 27, 2016 that:

We conclude that Ms. Robertson had a homestead in her condominium. And because she occupied the condominium when Viewcrest judicially foreclosed its assessment lien, she was entitled to retain possession during the redemption period with no obligation to pay rent. See page 2 of the Opinion.

The Court of Appeals reversed the Superior Court's Order granting the Writ of Assistance to remove Ms. Robertson from the condominium.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Considerations governing acceptance of Review.

Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b) there are four criteria considered by the Court in determining whether to accept review or not. It is respectfully argued that subsection (b)(4) applies and specifically this Petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

This Petition involves substantial public interest since its presents a critical issue, the determination of which will affect condominium associations' rights as a community and their ability to collect assessments from unit owners necessary for the basic operation and survival of such associations. As the Court of Appeals reversed the Superior Court's Order granting a Writ of Assistance, the fundamental issue presented to this Court is whether a unit owner, after the Association's judicial foreclosure of such owners' condominium unit, may remain in that unit, post sheriff's sale, during the redemption period, without paying to the Association the fair market value of rent for occupancy. Associations have been seeking rent and/or occupancy post sheriff's sale during the Great Recession as a means

of recouping losses when Lenders have delayed pursuing foreclosure. Bankrupt or asset-less owners have been occupying these properties pending delayed bank foreclosures without paying assessments, essentially creating "dead properties".

As the Association's interest is inferior to the Lender's mortgage (after the payment of the six (6) months super priority lien), the only effective tool for the Association to recover the delinquency owed is to pursue a sheriff's sale and thereafter rent the unit until the Lender finally forecloses. The authority to do so is granted under RCW 64.34.364 (2), wherein the Legislature promulgated that provisions of RCW 6.13 and the Homestead created therein do not apply to the liens of Condominium Associations.

In order for Associations to function, certain costs of the Association are uniformly shared among condominium owners. By way of illustration, sewer and water costs are billed to the Association directly and not separately metered to each of the unit owners. Such costs are then incorporated into the operational budget and allocated to the individual owners by way of assessments, payable to the Association.

If unit owners post foreclosure are allowed to remain in their unit during the redemption period, the other unit owners have to pay for these operational costs in order to maintain the functioning of the Association. At some point the Associations can no longer function without the shared contribution.

The published decision of the Court of Appeals effectively ignores the clear language of RCW 64.34.364(2) and materially interferes with the operation of hundreds, if not thousands of Condominium Associations across the state, and arguably affects millions of condominium unit owners throughout the state of Washington.

From the foregoing, it is respectfully argued that this Petition substantially affects public interest and should be determined by the Supreme Court.

B. The Clear Language Of RCW 64.34.364(2) Eliminates The Right Of A Unit Owner To Claim A Homestead As Against The Condominium Lien.

The Court of Appeals ruled that the homestead created by RCW 6.13.010(1) survives a judicial foreclosure of the Association's lien under RCW 64.34.364(9). Accordingly, Ms. Robertson was entitled to possession of her unit during the redemption period without payment of rent to Viewcrest pursuant to RCW 6.23.110(4). Therefore, the Superior Court erred in granting the Writ of Assistance to Viewcrest. This argument fails to acknowledge that the application of RCW 6.23.110(4) only applies if a homestead under RCW 6.13.010(1) is created.

The Court of Appeals in its decision states that, "...Once property is occupied as a primary residence a homestead is automatically created..." See page 5 and 6 of the Opinion. However in support of that position, the Court of Appeals cites to RCW 6.13.040 which regards the automatic homestead exception in property described in RCW 6.13.010, not the homestead itself, which is created by operation of RCW 6.13.010. Indeed, the Court of Appeals recognizes that Article XIX Section 1 of the Constitution (the section referencing the homestead exemption), is not self-executing, but imposes upon the state Legislature the "...duty of setting up some statutory procedures..." See *Tellevik v. 6717 100th St S.W.*, 83 Wn. App 366, 378, 921 P.2d 1888 (1996).

Thus, without the operation of RCW 6.13.010 there is no homestead right. It is the statute that creates the homestead. Consequently, not only does RCW 6.23.110 refer to the homestead <u>created</u> under RCW 6.13, but RCW 6.23.030 further acknowledges its application only, "...If the property is <u>subject</u> to a homestead as <u>provided</u> in Chapter 6.13 RCW..." (Emphasis Added).

Accordingly, unless a homestead is created, possessory rights under RCW 6.23.110(4) cannot be claimed. This begs the question whether RCW 64.34.364(2) eliminates the right to claim a homestead under RCW 6.13.010(1) as against the Association's lien. The answer is clearly yes

based upon the clear language, which states, "...A lien under this section is not subject to the provisions of Chapter 6.13 RCW..." That language necessarily includes RCW 6.13.010, the statute that creates the homestead.

Rules governing statutory interpretation provide that the "fundamental objective" of statutory interpretation "is to ascertain and carry out the Legislature's intent." *CalPortland Co. v. LevelOne Concrete, LLC,* 180 Wash.App.379, 385, 321 P.3d 1261, 1264 (2014) citing *Campbell & Gwinn,* 146 Wash.2d at 9-10, 43 P.3d 4 (2002). Where a "statute's meaning is plain on its face, then the court must give effect to that plain meaning as an expression of legislative intent." *Id. at page 385.* Such plain meaning "is discerned from all that the Legislature has said in the statute and related statutes which disclose legislative intent about the provision in question." *Id. at page 385,* citing *Campbell & Gwinn,* 146 Wash.2d at 11-12, 43 P.3d 4.

On its face, RCW 64.34.364(2) makes clear that the entire chapter 6.13 RCW does <u>not</u> apply to condominium assessment liens and the Association's right to possession following a foreclosure sale as provided for under RCW 64.34.364(9). This includes **both** <u>the actual homestead</u> created under RCW 6.13.010(1), and the <u>homestead exemption</u> established under RCW 6.13.040 and RCW 6.13.070. If the Legislature had intended that only the homestead exemption be excluded, as provided under RCW

6.13.080, it would have specifically stated so as it did formerly under RCW 64.32.200(2). Moreover it would not have given condominium associations the powers to "acquire, hold, <u>lease</u>, mortgage or convey" a unit purchased at a foreclosure sale under RCW 64.34.364(9). (Emphasis Added).

If there is more than one reasonable interpretation of a statute, the Court must resort to aids of construction, including legislative history. CalPortland Co. v. LevelOne Concrete, LLC, 180 Wash.App.379, 385, 321 P.3d 1261, 1264 citing Campbell & Gwinn, 146 Wash.2d at 12, 43 P.3d 4. If the language is clear and unambiguous the Court should not read any ambiguity into the statute.

Even assuming arguendo an ambiguity, the evolution of the pertinent provision from what was set forth in RCW 64.32.200(2) to RCW 64.34.364(2) is instructive.

RCW 64.32.200(2) provided in pertinent part the following:

Such Lien is not subject to the ban against execution or force sales of homesteads under RCW 6.13.080 and may be foreclosed by suit by the manager or Board of Directors, acting on behalf of the apartment owners, in like manner as a mortgage of real property. In any such foreclosure the apartment owner shall be required to pay a reasonable rental for the apartment, if so, provided in the Bylaws, and the Plaintiff in such foreclosures shall be entitled to the appointment of a receiver to collect the same. The manager or Board of Directors, acting on behalf of the apartment owners, shall have power, unless prohibited by the Declaration, to bid on the apartment at foreclosure sale, and

to acquire and hold, lease, mortgage, and convey the same... (Emphasis Added).

Comparing the aforecited language to what is provided for in RCW 64.34.364(2) clearly demonstrates that the Legislature chose to broaden the association rights as related to the Homestead Act (RCW 6.13). The former statute specifically cites only to RCW 6.13.080, which only protects the homestead exemption (currently \$125,000.00) from execution and forced sale. Therefore, under RCW 6.13.080 unless exempted, prior to a forced sale, the foreclosing party must pay the homestead exemption of \$125,000.00 as a condition precedent to conducting the sheriff's sale. As the association is exempt from the homestead exemption, such payment under the former statute was not required. While exempt from the homestead exemption, the right to claim a homestead remained under RCW 6.13.010. Thus, under the former statute RCW 64.32.200(2), the association's lien was subject to the owner's homestead, but not to the homestead exemption under RCW 6.13.080(6). By eliminating the application of the homestead statute (RCW 6.13 et seq.) as against the Association's lien in its entirety, the Legislature further eliminated the right to claim a homestead as against the Association's lien.

Clearly if the Legislature simply wanted to reiterate that the condominium lien was not subject to the homestead exemption, it would

have retained the language set forth in RCW 64.32.200(2). Instead the Legislature <u>broadened</u> the language and clearly stated that the lien was not subject to the provisions of chapter RCW 6.13 in its <u>entirety</u>!

The legislative intent of Washington's Condominium Act (RCW 64.34) is also expressed in RCW 64.34.005 which states that the Legislature desired to ensure "that a broad range of affordable homeownership opportunities continue to be available to the residents of the state..." Allowing a homeowner to remain in the condominium unit after a forced sale would be contrary to such intent, as it precludes an Association from recovering the underlying debt unpaid by the homeowner through renting the unit during the redemption period, thereby impeding its ability to provide for common expenses, fund repairs and reserves, necessary for the functioning and survival of the association.

During the August 27, 2015 hearing, Commissioner Velategui emphasized the fact that condominium associations are a unique form of homeownership and are dependent upon all unit owners for payment of assessments in his colloquy with Defendant's attorney, Mr. Tarshes. *CP* 207. Commissioner Velategui asked Mr. Tarshes what would happen if 100 percent of the owners decided to go through bankruptcy and pointed out that "water would be turned off for everybody,"..."[g]arbage would not be pick up because they've got not

money,"..."[m]aintenance wouldn't be paid because they've got no money." *CP 207*. He correctly emphasized that the condominium would be destroyed if the association could not take possession of the unit following a foreclosure sale in order to mitigate its damages and pay for its operational expenses.

The Legislature, in creating the Condominium Act (RCW 64.34), envisioned how to protect the condominium community and avoid financial crisis in a depressed economy or in a small condominium development when many unit owners may become delinquent in paying assessments. By preventing condominium owners from claiming a right to a homestead after the condominium association forecloses its assessment lien and allowing the association to mitigate its damages, the Legislature found a way to effectively and fairly govern this unique form of homeownership.

C. RCW 6.23.110(4) Requires A Homestead Under Chapter 6.13 RCW In Order For It To Apply.

RCW 6.23.030(1) and RCW 6.23.110(4) both refer to the homestead as provided for under chapter 6.13 RCW, thereby incorporating its provisions. Chapter 6.23 RCW also predates condominium law. Had the Legislature intended to simply preclude a condominium homeowner from claiming a homestead exemption against an execution or forced sale, the amendments to RCW 6.13.080 were sufficient for this purpose and the

references to the homestead statute in RCW 64.34.364(2) would be superfluous. RCW 6.23.110(1) specifically gives the purchaser the right of possession from the date of sale. Subsection (4) prohibits this possession if and only if there is a homestead which can only be created if RCW 6.13.010(1) is applicable. Under RCW 64.34.364(2) the entire chapter of RCW 6.13 does not apply, therefore no homestead exists as against the Association's lien and the condition precedent necessary for RCW 6.23.110(4) to "kick in" is not present.

It is respectfully suggested that the Court of Appeals decision ignored a clear provision which was promulgated by the Washington State Legislature. As the Court is aware, that is not its role. Where the statute is clear and unambiguous, the Court should apply such language thereby deferring to the Legislature. See *CalPortland Co. v. LevelOne Concrete, LLC* 180 Wash.App. 379 -385, 321 P.3d 1261 (2014).

D. Washington's Legislature Created Exceptions To Homestead Rights.

As noted above Article XIX, Section 1 of Washington's Constitution is cited by the Court of Appeals. Notably the Article deals with the <u>homestead exemption</u>, <u>not</u> the homestead itself. The Legislature did create the homestead exemption under RCW 6.13.070 to ensure that an owner receive a sum of money to start over. However, it also created a

carve-out to the homestead exemption pursuant to RCW 6.13.080. Moreover, the Legislature also carved out exceptions to the homestead; specifically an exception to the application of the homestead itself exists when a deed of trust is foreclosed non-judicially pursuant to chapter 61.24 RCW. In addition, forfeiture under RCW 69.50.505 is not subject to homestead protection. See *Tellevik v. 677 100th ST SW*, 83 Wn.App. 366,376-379, 921 P.2d 1888 (1996).

As to the claim that a lien is distinguishable from the right to possession after sale, a Deed of Trust is also a lien which requires foreclosure before possession. Moreover, at the time of the Sheriff Sale, the lien mergers into the Purchaser's Certificate of Purchase, subject only to the right of redemption during the redemption period before the issuance of the Sheriff's Deed placing the Purchaser into title. Similarly, upon the issuance of the Trustee Deed, the Deed of Trust merges into the Trustee Deed.

Of critical importance, however, is the effect of the foreclosure of the lien upon junior interests. The sale operates to extinguish those interests. Without the right to claim a homestead against the lien under RCW 6.13.010 upon foreclosure of the lien, the unit owner, as a junior interest, loses that interest <u>and</u> the right of possession post sale. Thus, the argument of distinguishing between the foreclosure of the lien and right of possession is nonsensical.

Parenthetically, Ms. Robertson also argued that associations have the right, under RCW 64.34.364 to elect to foreclose non-judicially or judicially with the right of possession granted immediately upon completion of the trustee's sale under RCW 61.24 et seq. However, that argument ignored the fact that certain Declarations do not allow for non-judicial foreclosures and furthermore, under RCW 64.34.264(4), any amendment to a Declaration which restricts use requires ninety percent (90%) approval of the association membership; virtually an unobtainable percentage. Thus, the Legislature chose to provide the right for associations to rent post sale whether judicially or non-judicially.

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