RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Feb 24, 2017, 10:01 am

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

Supreme Court No. 94171-8

Court of Appeals No. 74115-2-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Viewcrest Condominium Association,

Plaintiff/Petitioner,

٧.

Brenda L. Robertson,

Defendant/Respondent.

ANSWER OF RESPONDENT BRENDA ROBERTSON TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

David Tarshes, WSBA #13658 NORTHWEST JUSTICE PROJECT

401 Second Ave S. Suite 407 Seattle, Washington 98104 Phone: (206) 464-1519

Fax: (206) 682-7033

Email: <u>davidt@nwjustice.org</u>
Attorney for Defendant/Respondent

Brenda L. Robertson

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

As a matter of law, the legislature has provided condominium associations with a method of being reimbursed for unpaid assessments. That method is to foreclose and be reimbursed from the foreclosure sale proceeds. *See* RCW 64.34.364(9).

In addition, the Condominium Act gives associations a choice between foreclosing judicially, pursuant to Chapter 61.12 RCW, or non-judicially, pursuant to Chapter 61.24 RCW. See RCW 64.34.364(9). The owner's right to possession during a redemption period exists only if the association chooses a judicial foreclosure. See RCW 6.23.110(4). If the association pursues a non-judicial foreclosure, there is no redemption period and the former owner must move out within twenty days after the sale. See RCW 61.24.060(1). Thus, the legislature has given associations the power to avoid the situation about which Viewcrest complains.

Viewcrest contends the declarations of some associations do not permit non-judicial foreclosures. Petition 16. If that is so, it is a choice made by the association. The alleged need to rescue an association from its choice does not present an issue of substantial public interest.

water and electricity provided to their Unit"); *Rodriguez v. Loudeye Corp.*, 144 Wn. App. 709, 725-26, 189 P.3d 168 (2008) (court may take judicial notice of public documents).

Moreover, if an association wants to change that choice, it may do so by amendment of the declaration. *See* RCW 64.34.264.⁴

As a factual matter, Viewcrest offers no substantiation for its assertion that homeowners who are delinquent in payment of assessments or who exercise their right to possession pursuant to RCW 6.23.110(4) pose an existential threat to Viewcrest or to any other condominium. The burden to Viewcrest of a homeowner exercising their rights under RCW 6.23.110(4) appears to be 98 cents per owner per month, or \$11.75 for a twelve-month redemption period. Given the limited supply, high demand, and rising prices for condominiums, it is extremely unlikely a foreclosure sale would produce insufficient proceeds to satisfy the debt owed to a creditor association.

C. Viewcrest's Desire to Reverse the Court of Appeals' Decision Does Not Raise an Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

To the extent that Viewcrest suggests a need to correct alleged error by the Court of Appeals constitutes a substantial public interest in

⁴ Viewcrest contends amendment in this regard would require approval by 90% of owners because it is a change to the "uses to which any unit is restricted." *See* Petition 16, citing RCW 64.34.264(4). The language on which Viewcrest relies does not apply to how a lien may be foreclosed; it concerns questions such as whether the owner of a unit may use it for commercial purposes. The applicable percentage to approve an amendment is 67%. *See* RCW 64.34.264(1).

⁵ See CP 28, 45-46 (there are 190 units at Viewcrest), 57 (monthly assessments are \$185).

⁶ See Northwest Multiple Listing Service, Brokers Report "High Velocity" Market, Feb. 6, 2017, http://www.northwestmls.com/index.cfm?/News-Information.

this case, it is mistaken. The Court of Appeals correctly decided and clearly explained its decision, applying long-established legal principles.

There is no need for a further determination by this Court.

Viewcrest contends the protection given to a homestead owner following a judicial foreclosure does not apply when the creditor was a condominium association. Viewcrest contends that, because RCW 64.34.364(2) provides that "[a] lien under this section is not subject to the provisions of chapter 6.13 RCW," that means "[w]ithout the application of the entire Chapter [6.13], there is no homestead and without a homestead there is no right to claim possession post sheriff's sale under RCW 6.23.110(4)." Petition 17. This argument is erroneous for multiple reasons, which we review below.

1. The Plain Language of RCW 64.34.364(2) Permits Foreclosure of the Lien, But Does Not Affect Possession Following Foreclosure.

The starting point for analyzing a statutory provision is the plain language of the statute. *State v. Barbee*, ___ Wn.2d ___, 386 P.3d 729, 733 (2017). The plain language of RCW 64.34.364(2) is that a creditor association's "lien under this section is not subject to the provisions of chapter 6.13 RCW." The section provides only that the creditor's lien is not subject to the Homestead Act. It does not address the respective postsale rights of the purchaser and the homeowner.

"A lien is merely an encumbrance to secure an obligation." As such, it provides a remedy against the land subject to the lien, in the form of a right to foreclose.

The courts have emphasized repeatedly that a lien, as "merely an encumbrance," does not convey any right, title, or interest in the land the lien encumbers. 9 Nor does a lien confer any right to possession. 10

After the foreclosure sale, the lien is extinguished.¹¹ Thus, the lien has nothing to do with who has the right to possession after the sale. The statutes governing the right to foreclose "have served their purpose and the

⁷ Byrne v. Ackerlund, 108 Wn.2d 445, 450, 739 P.2d 1138 (1987); accord Swanson v. Graham, 27 Wn.2d 590, 597, 179 P.2d 288 (1947); S.D. Deacon Corp. v. Gaston Bros. Excavating, Inc., 150 Wn. App. 87, 89, 206 P.3d 689 (2009).

⁸ In re Longey, 2008 WL 2074041 at *4 (Bankr. W.D. Wash. May 14, 2008), quoting State v. Teuscher, 111 Wn.2d 486, 491, 761 P.2d 49 (1988); Fed. Intermediate Credit Bank of Spokane v. O/S Sablefish, 111 Wn.2d 219, 226, 758 P.2d 494 (1988).

⁹ Longey, 2008 WL 2074041 at *4; O/S Sablefish, 111 Wn.2d at 225-26; Swanson, 27 Wn.2d at 597; Capital Inv. Corp. v. King Cnty., 112 Wn. App. 216, 229-30, 47 P.3d 161 (2002).

¹⁰ Krueger v. Tippett, 155 Wn. App. 216, 225, 229 P.3d 866 (2010), quoting BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 1006 (9th ed. 2009). See also Borowski v. BNC Mtg., Inc., 2013 WL 4522253 at *3 (W.D. Wash. Aug. 27, 2013) (Quiet title statute "recognizes that a deed of trust creates only a secured lien on real property and does not convey any ownership interest or right to possess the subject property.").

¹¹ See Capital Inv. Corp., 112 Wn. App. at 221, quoting 3 WASHINGTON STATE BAR ASS'N REAL PROPERTY DESKBOOK § 46.15(4) ("At A's foreclosure sale . . . A bids in for the full amount of his lien and thereby becomes the purchaser of the property. . . . A's lien was extinguished by the foreclosure sale."); accord Damascus Milk Co. v. Morriss, 1 Wn. App. 501, 503-07, 463 P.2d 212 (1969); 18 WASH. PRAC., REAL ESTATE § 19.19 (foreclosing mortgage "was extinguished by the sale."); 27 WASH. PRAC., CREDITORS' REMEDIES – DEBTORS' RELIEF § 3.19 (same).

future rights of the parties are then governed by an entirely different statute." *Tiffany*, 40 Wn.2d at 197.

Viewcrest's argument to the contrary ignores the fact that the dispute over the right to possession during the redemption period is between Ms. Robertson and Viewcrest in its capacity as foreclosure sale purchaser, not Viewcrest in its capacity as foreclosing lienholder. A foreclosure sale purchaser's right to obtain possession of the foreclosed property does not arise from the lien. It arises, instead, from the Redemption Act, at RCW 6.23.110(1), and that right is subject to the homestead owner's right to possession set forth in RCW 6.23.110(4).

Thus, to state that a lien is not subject to the provisions of RCW 6.13 means merely that the lienholder has the right to foreclose, as an exception to the normal rule of RCW 6.13.070 that the homestead is exempt from execution. Because a lien does not convey any right to possession to either the lienholder or the foreclosure sale purchaser, excepting a lien from the normal rule against execution does not have any effect on the separate issue of the respective rights of the homeowner and the foreclosure sale purchaser to possession following foreclosure.

When the same party has acted in two different capacities, a reviewing court must identify in which capacity the party is acting with respect to the issue presented, and which rights and responsibilities are associated with that capacity. See, e.g., Mistretta v. U.S., 488 U.S. 361, 404 (1989); Tiffany, 40 Wn.2d at 197; Sauter v. Houston Cas. Co., 168 Wn. App. 348, 355-59, 276 P.3d 358 (2012).

2. The Policies Governing Interpretation of Homestead Statutes Confirm the Court of Appeals Properly Applied the Statutes.

As the Court of Appeals recognized, Slip Op. 4, 10, Viewcrest's argument that the Condominium Act indirectly did away with the protection granted homestead owners under RCW 6.23.110(4) when the creditor is a condominium association runs afoul of three strong policies governing the protection of the homestead and the interpretation of statutes relating to the homestead. First, this Court has "repeatedly held that the homestead statutes are favored in the law and should be liberally construed." *In re Wieber*, 182 Wn.2d 919, 925, 347 P.3d 41 (2015). Second, legislative "[1]imitations on homestead rights must be specific, clear and direct." Slip Op. 4. Third, in contrast to homestead statutes, lien statutes are to be strictly construed; if there is a question regarding

¹³ See also, e.g., In re Dependency of Schermer, 161 Wn.2d 927, 953, 169 P.3d 452 (2007) ("The act is favored in law and courts construe it liberally so it may achieve its purpose of protecting family homes."); O/S Sablefish, 111 Wn.2d at 228-29; Macumber v. Shafer, 96 Wn.2d 568, 570, 637 P.2d 645 (1981) ("Homestead statutes are enacted as a matter of public policy in the interest of humanity and thus are favored in the law and are accorded a liberal construction."); Slip Op. 4.

¹⁴ See also, e.g., In re Cunningham, 163 B.R. 593, 594-96 (Bankr. W.D. Wash. 1994) ("[W]hen the legislature has wanted to add exceptions to the homestead exemption, it has done so clearly and directly."); City of Algona v. Sharp, 30 Wn. App. 837, 843, 638 P.2d 627 (1982) ("Without a more specific statement, a legislative intent to supersede the homestead provisions as to sale cannot be implied."); Union Cent. Life Ins. Co., 169 Wash. at 77 ("A strictly technical interpretation" of statute arguably limiting the right to possession during the redemption period "would not harmonize with the policy which may be reasonably supposed to have dictated the enactment."); Slip Op. 10; cf. O.S.T. ex rel. G.T and E.S. v. Regence BlueShield, 181 Wn.2d 691, 701-02, 335 P.3d 416 (2014) (repeals by implication are disfavored).

how to construe together statutes concerning the relationship between a lien and the homestead, the homestead prevails. ¹⁵

Here, there is no specific, clear, and direct language in the Condominium Act, the Homestead Act, or the Redemption Act stating the legislature intended to eliminate a protection in existence since 1899 when the lienholder forcing the foreclosure sale is a condominium association. Instead, Viewcrest contends the Condominium Act should be read "as indirectly negating a right recognized under the Redemption Act by means of a hazy link to the Homestead Act." Slip Op. 10. If the legislature had intended to negate the protection given to homeowners under RCW 6.23.110(4) when the creditor is a condominium association, it would have said so. It did not.

3. The Condominium Act's Legislative History Confirms the Court of Appeals Properly Applied the Statutes.

The sentence in RCW 64.34.364(2) on which Viewcrest relies is derived from a sentence in Section 3-116 of the Uniform Condominium Act, which states: "The lien under this section is not subject to the provisions of (insert appropriate reference to state homestead, dower and curtesy, or other exemptions)." As the Court of Appeals noted, the "reference to 'exemptions' suggests the Uniform Condominium Act

See Slip Op. 10; Pinebrook Homeowners Ass'n v. Owen, 48 Wn. App. 424, 428-32,
 739 P.2d 110 (1987); Algona, 30 Wn. App. at 842-43.

contemplated homestead exemptions precluding forced sales, not the right to possession during redemption." Slip Op. 7.

The legislative history of RCW 64.34.364(2) confirms the Court of Appeals' reading. The official comments to the section, as adopted by the legislature, state: "A lien for assessments is not subject to the homestead exemption of RCW 6.13 and an association will no longer need to give the notice regarding the effect of foreclosure which is required by that chapter in order to avoid the homestead exemption." 2 Sen. Journal, 51st Leg., Reg., 1st & 2nd Spec. Sess. at 2081 (1990), referenced at 1 Sen. Journal, 51st Leg. Sess., Reg. Sess. at 376 (1990). Three aspects of this statement are significant.

First, as with the Uniform Act, the comment speaks of the lien as "not subject to the homestead exemption." The section is intended to negate the protection of the homestead exemption set forth in RCW 6.13.070. It is not intended to eliminate the homestead itself.

Second, as the Court of Appeals noted, Slip Op. 7-8, the comment states the purpose of the section is to exempt condominium associations from the requirement set forth in RCW 6.13.080(6) that they provide a notice to homeowners that the homestead exemption will not apply to the association's lien. Viewcrest has argued that, unless RCW 64.34.364(2) means the homestead is eliminated, the section would not serve any

purpose not already served by RCW 6.13.080(6). Petition 13-14. The legislature's comment negates this argument. It demonstrates the purpose of RCW 64.34.364(2) was to eliminate the notice requirement, not to do away with the homestead.

Third, the legislature's official comment says nothing about eliminating a homeowner's right to possession during the redemption period when the lien that led to the sale was that of a condominium association. "While the comment expressly identifies the elimination of the requirement for 'notice['] . . . , there is no mention of any intent to directly or indirectly alter any provision of the Redemption Act." Slip Op. 8. Had the legislature intended to eliminate the right to possession, one would expect it to do so in clear, direct, and specific language, and to state in the legislative history that it was doing so. The fact the legislature did neither confirms it had no such intention.

4. Viewcrest's Reliance on Other Statutory Provisions Does Not Assist It.

Viewcrest has argued that other statutory provisions buttress its argument that RCW 64.34.364(2) was intended to eliminate the homeowner's right to possession. They do not.

RCW 64.32.200(2): See Petition 10-12; Slip Op. 8-9. As the Court of Appeals noted, the provision in question "undercut[s]

Viewcrest's position" because it shows "the legislature knew how to expressly require the owner to pay rent during the foreclosure process," language it did not use in the Condominium Act, Redemption Act, or Homestead Act, instead providing a receiver may collect rent during the foreclosure process as to "a unit that is not occupied by the owner." Slip Op. 8, 9, quoting RCW 64.32.200 (2) and RCW 64.34.364(10).

RCW 64.34.364(9): See Petition 9-10; Slip Op. 9. The right of an association to purchase at the foreclosure sale carries with it the rights granted to other purchasers, including the right to lease and convey, but those rights are subject to the rights of the former owner when a homestead exists.¹⁶

Chapter 61.24 RCW: See Petition 15. Contrary to Viewcrest's contention, a homestead is not a "junior interest" and is not extinguished by a deed of trust or mortgage foreclosure. 17

RCW 69.50.505: See Petition 15 (not raised in Court of Appeals). The case cited by Viewcrest explains why forfeitures of properties used to manufacture controlled substances are not comparable to foreclosure sales.

¹⁶ See also RCW 6.21.120; RCW 6.23.060 (foreclosure sale purchaser does not obtain sheriff's deed, which would be necessary to convey, until end of redemption period).

 ¹⁷ See, e.g., Tiffany, 40 Wn.2d at 197; Sweet v. O'Leary, 88 Wn. App. 199, 201-04, 944
 P.2d 414 (1997); Algona, 30 Wn. App. at 843.

See Tellevik v. Real Property Known as 6717 100th St. S.W. Located in Pierce Cnty., 83 Wn. App. 366, 376-79, 921 P.2d 1088 (1996).

IV. CONCLUSION

Viewcrest has not presented any issue of substantial public interest that warrants further review by this Court. There is no support for the assertion that application of RCW 6.23.110(4) poses an existential threat to condominium associations. Nor does the correct and well-reasoned decision of the Court of Appeals present a need for further review here. Viewcrest's petition should be denied.